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ESTATE INVESTMENT, LLC. 93RD JUDICIAL DISTRICT;

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ON PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS!
AGAINST BANK DEFENDANTS

On November 12, 2019, this cause came on to be heard for trial, and the Plaintiffs,
'

Consuelo Jones and Gabriella Jones, appeared in person and by their attorney of record and

announced ready. Defendants, Homeward Residential Inc. (f/k/a American Home Morgtgage

Servicing, Inc.) (”Homeward”), Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as trustée for

Ameriquest Mortgage Securities, inc, Asset—Backed Pass—Through Certificates, Series 2604438

(”Deutsche”), and chen Loan Servicing LLC (”chen") (collectively the ”Bank Defendants”)

appeared through their attorney of record and announced ready for trial. MARCC Real Estate

Inveshnent LLC d/b/a MARCC Real Estate (”MARCC”) appeared by its designated

representative and by its attorney of record and announced ready for trial. 5

A jury trial having been waived by the parties, the case and evidence were presented to

the Court. The Court signed its judgment on March 23, 2023, and findings 0f fact and conch!lsions

of law were requested by the Bank Defendants. The Court hereby renders its findings of fdct and

conclusions of law. Any finding of fact that is more properly considered as a conclusion pf law

should be so treated, and vice versa. A11 findings herein are based on the proper evidénfiary

standard, even if not expressly stated.
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FINDINGS OF FACT

Procedural Matters
E

1. At the outset of the trial, Plaintiffs offered Exhibit 53, to Which Bank Defefidants

asserted a relevance objection based on the partial summary judgment this Court grantied on

April 11, 2019 in favor of Plaintiffs. 1n response, Plaintiffs requested that the Court rescifid the

summary judgment granted on April 11, 2019, and the Court overruled Bank Defendants’

objection. In so doing, the Court impliedly granted the request to rescind the summary judgiment,

and that was the Court’s intent as is evident by the fact that all parties presented evidence'on all

questions of liability and damages.

Pacts adduced at trial
!

Bank Defendants’Misconduct Across the Country

2. Deutsche Bank is one of the largest banks in the world, operating in 70 coulntries

with over 91,000 employees. It has over $1.3 trillion dollars in assets and over $68 billion in e!quity.

3. chen (Which acquired Homeward in December 2012) is the largest non—bank

servicer 0f U.S. mortgages, servicing over 1.5 billion mortgages and having a portfolio vallue of

over $550 million in mortgages. chen is the largest servicer of subprime loans in the IiJnited

States.

4. Federal and state regulators and prosecutors have determined that Deutsche‘ Bank,

chen, and Homeward have engaged in systematic mortgage fraud and abuse for years, Before,

during and after all relevant times to the claims made in the lawsuit. Despite multiple findings of

fraud and abuse, and consent orders requiring future compliance, Bank Defendants have; failed

and refused to correct their misconduct. !

5. Plaintiffs Consuelo Jones and Gabriela Iones are victims of Bank Defefidants’

pattern of fraud and abuse. In order to place the conduct involved in this wrongful foreqlosure

case in perspective to the timeframe involving Bank Defendants’ established pattern of mortgage

fraud and abuse, some relevant dates include: i

06/21/04 Gabriela Jones and her father Edwin Jones submit a loan applicatioin for a

home equity loan to Ameriquest Mortgage Company (the ”Home Equity
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Loan”), which was closed the same day With a lien on Plaintiffs’ homeistead

(the ”Homestead”) to secure the loan.
I

01/29/ 09 Ameriquest Mortgage Company transfers and assigns the lien foir the

Home Equity Loan to Deutsche Bank.
!

04/12/11 American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc, as servicing agent for Deliltsche

Bank, files Application for Order Permitting Foreclosure of Lien Crieated

under Texas Constitution Article XVI, Section 50A(6) in C—964-11-é; 93rd

District Court, Hidalgo County, Texas (the ”Application for Order of

Foreclosure”).
E

11/30/11 Order for Foreclosure entered by this Court authorizing Applicant

American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. to proceed with foreclospre of

the Homestead (the ”Order for Foreclosure”).

I

12/27/12 chen acquires Homeward. i

02/05/13 Homeward forecloses on the Homestead. Deutsche Bank is the successful

bidder.
i

02/03/15 Bank Defendants sell the property t0 MARCC, despite knowledge of the

problems with the loan and foreclosure process.
;

01/24/17 Plaintiffs file this lawsuit asserting multiple claims.

6. In September 2011 (after the Application for Order of Foreclosure, but befojre the

Order for Foreclosure was granted), chen entered into an agreement with regulators Which

required chen and Homeward to implement a system of robust internal controls and ovérsight

With respect to mortgage servicing practices performed by its staff and third party vendors to

prevent improper foreclosures and maximize struggling borrower’s opportunities to keel!) their

homes.

I

7. In early 2012, multiple government agencies, both federal and state, co’néiucted

examinations and investigations into chen and identified substantial deficiencies, weaknesses

and violations of laws and regulations relating to foreclosure governance, implementatiion of

modification programs, record keeping, required nofifications and charging of unallowable fees.

States’ attorneys general, and state and federal regulators, found that chen pushed borriowers

into foreclosure, deceived borrowers about foreclosure alternatives, improperly denieil loan

modifications, and engaged in illegal foreclosure practices.
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8. In June 2012, regulators conducted a targeted examination of chen to asséss its

compliance with the 2011 agreement. The examination found widespread noncompliance.

Consequently, chen entered into a Consent Order Which required chen to retain an

independent compliance monitor for two years. The consent decree also covers Homejward

Residential Holdings, Inc, which conducted the foreclosure of the Joneses’ home.

9. The compliance monitor uncovered numerous and significant violations CEJf the

2011 agreement and applicable laws. For example, the compliance monitor reviewed 478-10ans

that chen foreclosed and found 1,358 Violations, for an average of three violations per

foreclosed loan. These violations include the failure to confirm that it had the right to forjeclose

before initiating foreclosure, the failure to ensure that its statements to the court in foreclosure

proceedings were correct, and pursuing foreclosure even while modifications were pending.

10. The compliance monitor also identified inadequate and ineffective inforrrglation

technology systems and personnel, and widespread conflicts of interest With related partie's. The

compliance monitor determined that chen’s information technology systems are a patchwork

of legacy systems and systems inherited from acquired companies, many of whicjh are

incompatible. As a result, chen regularly gives borrowers incorrect or outdated inform'ation,

sends borrowers backdated letters, and maintains inaccurate records. chen’s systems have been

backdating letters for years, depriving borrowers of valuable rights and remedies. Theire are

insufficient controls in place to catch these errors and resolve them. chen’s madéquate

infrastructure and ineffective personnel have resulted in chen’s failure to fulfill its legal

obligations. Prior to the compliance monitor’s review, chen did not take adequate stéps t0

implement reforms that it was legally obligated to implement pursuant to the 2011 agreement.

11. Regulators also uncovered a ”tangled web” of conflicts that could create incentives

that harm borrowers and push homeowners into unnecessary and improper foreclosureé. The

conflicts of interest involved overlapping ownership and control of chen, Altisource Poirtfolio

Solutions, S.A., Altisource Residential Corporation, Altisource Asset Management Corporation,

all of Which were chaired by William C. Erbey, Who is also the largest shareholder of eacgh and

the Executive Chairman of chen. chen’s close business relationships with related comlljanies

is particularly evident in its relationship with Altisource Portfolio which has dozgns of

subsidiaries that perform fee-based services for chen. Under its servicing agreer!nents,

Alfisource provides, among other things, residential property valuation services, property
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preservation services, inspection services, title services and even auction services through Hfibzu,

another subsidiary. chen also received referral fees from Altisource that are paid out (Sf the

commission that would 9the1'wise be paid to Altisource as the selling broker in connection with

real estate sales of foreclosed properties. chen’s related companies host nearly all of Ocvlven’s

online auction and handle all of chen's post-foreclosure real estate transactions. These corilflicts

of interest created an incentive to push borrowers into more foreclosures than were requifed or

justified in order to generate more fees.

12. Bank Defendants’ foreclosure counsel testified he was not aware of anything

chen did With respect to the Ioneses’ case to make sure these problems did not occur; The

foreclosure made the basis of this lawsuit falls squarely into the pattern of mortgage fraucgl and

abuses for which Bank Defendants have been repeatedly investigated and found to have engaged

in. This case involves the wrongful foreclosure 0f an unconstitutional home equity loan, and the

evidence clearly indicates that Bank Defendants deliberately and maliciously engaged in conduct

designed to unlawfully and unjustly profit from this and other foreclosures by exploitingéthese

Plaintiffs and other distressed homeowners. !

The Ionesesfall victim t0 the Bank Defendants’ misconduct.
!

13. Plaintiff Consuelo Jones is the mother of Plaintiff Gabriella Jones. Consuelo resides

at 2028 East 28th Street in Mission, Texas, Which is the property that is the subject of this litigation.

The legal description of that property is:

ALL OF LOT 56, COUNTRY ESTATES AN ADDITION TO THE CITY OF MISSION,
HIDALGO COUNTY, TEXAS ACCORDING TO THE MAP THEREOF IN VOLUME 28,

PAGE 48A OF THE MAP RECORDS, HIDALGO COUNTY, TEXAS."

14. Consuelo Jones and Edwin Jones, Consuelo’s then-husband and Gabriella’s father,

purchased the property in 1995. The note associated with the purchase of this property was not

offered or admitted in evidence at trial. A deed of trust and loan addendum were admitted into

evidence, which shows that the lender of the purchase money was Valley Mortgage, Inc. There is

no evidence in the record of the interest rate on the original note or the payments made tcéward

that note by Consuelo Jones and Edwin Jones. ‘

15. In 2004, Edwin Jones and Gabriella Jones obtained a home equity loan fior the

property. Edwin asked for Gabriella’s help, and she agreed, although at the young age of 20'years

01d, she did not really understand What she was signing.
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16. The loan application was signed by Edwin Jones and Gabriella Jones on Jufie 21,

!

2004. While the Bank Defendants suggested that maybe Edwin Jones had previously subrrilitted

another application prior to June 21, 2004, Gabriella had never seen such an application, and! none

was ever produced in discovery or offered into evidence by the Bank Defendants. Defenidants

admitted that the only loan application they possessed was dated June 21, 2004. The loan

application says on its face that an interview occurred and the application was taken on June 21,

2004. Even if Edwin Jones had previously applied for a home equity loan on his own, however,

that would be irrelevant because the application for the loan that was actually made—by both

Edwin Jones and Gabriella Jones — was indisputably signed and submitted on June 21, 2004.iBanl<

Defendants admitted that they had no documentation showing that at some time prior t9 June

21, 2004, Edwin or Gabriella submitted any information for verification that could constitute a

prior application, and they admitted they had no verification documentation.

17. The note bears a date of June 19, 2004 at the top. But Gabriella testified that she

signed the note on June 21, 2004—the same day as the loan application was signed (and theésarne

day that the loan ultimately Closed).
:

18. Consuelo Jones did not sign the note. Consuelo Jones understood that Gabriella’s

name was on the note, instead of hers, because her credit was better.

I

19. A Texas Home Equity Affidavit and Agreement (First Lien) was signed by

Consuelo Jones; Edwin Jones, and Gabriella Jones in favor of Ameriquest Mortgage Company on

June 21, 2004 and was notarized on that date.
.

20. A Texas Home Equity Security Instrument (First Lien) was also signeid by

Consuelo Jones, Edwin Jones, and Gabriella Jones in favor of Ameriquest Mortgage C0mpa1§1y 0n

June 21, 2004 and was notarized on that date.

21. A HUD Settlement Statement was issued with a settlement date of June 21, 32004.

Thus, as stated above, the loan was applied for and closed on the same day. The settlement

statement was signed by Edwin Jones and Gabriela Jones, but not Consuelo Jones. The settlément

statement falsely recites that both Edwin Jones and Gabriella Jones were ”unmarried.”

22. Bank Defendants admitted that they did not possess a copy of the notice of rights

under the Texas Constitution that was required to be provided to the borrowers under Texas

Constitution article XVI, § 50(g). The Court finds such notice was not provided.
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23. The home equity loan amount was $111,000. Of that amount, Gabriella tesltified

she received ”nothing." The HUD settlement statement shows Edwin received $10,859. Edwin's

various creditors received $23,792.32. It further shows a payment t0 Bank of America for

$75,817.72. A release of lien admitted in evidence shows that Bank of America released a liclen on

the property on September 14, 2004. As stated above, however, neither the actual note nolr the

assignment to Bank 0f America was offered into evidence; thus, Bank Defendants provided

nothing to demonstrate that the lien released by Bank of America was valid.
I

24. On November 30, 2005, AMC Mortgage Services, Inc. d/b/a Delaware iAMC

Mortgage Services, Inc, ”servicing agent for Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Triustee

of Ameriquest Mortgage Securities, Inc., Asset-Backed Pass Through Certificates, Series 200438"

obtained an order of foreclosure on the purported home—equity lien in Cause No. C—2333-05e-B, in
I

the 93rd District Court. Consuelo Jones had no knowledge of this foreclosure proceeding.
I

25. On February 2, 2009, Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee, in ?Frust

for the Registered Holders of Ameriquest Mortgage Securities, Inc. Asset Backed Pass Thriough

Certificates, Series 2004-R8, filed another application to foreclose the purported home—equit'y lien

|

in Cause No. C-282—O90C, in the 139th District Court. No order of foreclosure was offerec} into

evidence relating to this case. Consuelo Jones was not aware of this filing either.
i

26. Thereafter, American Home Mortgage Servicing began servicing the Enote.

American Home Mortgage Servicing later changed its name to Homeward Residential, In'c. on

27. By 2009, problems in the marriage between Consuelo and Edwin Jones arosel, and

the couple stopped communicating. In April 2011, Edwin and Consuelo Jones separatedl, and

May 30, 2012, and was acquired as a subsidiary of chen in 2012.

Edwin moved out of the home. Edwin stopped making mortgage payments, without t(lalling

Consuelo Jones he had done so. After Consuelo and Edwin divorced, on November 19, 2011,

Edwin quitclaimed his interest in the property to Gabriella.

28. On April 12, 2011, American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc, ”as servicing lagent

for Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Ameriquest Mortgage Securities, Inc.,

Asset—Backed Pass—Through Certificates, Series 2004-R8 (’Noteholder')" filed another application

to foreclose the lien on Plaintiffs’ property. This case was docketed in the 93rd District Court as

Cause No. C—964—11—B. The application for foreclosure states that American Home Mortgage

Servicing, Inc. accelerated the debt on February 23, 2011.
I
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29. On August 29, 2011, American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. filed a mofiQn for

entry of default judgment in Cause No. C—964—11—B. The file stamp indicates the motion was; filed

at 1:31 p.m. This filing contains a page attached—the last exhibit to the motion—containfing a

certificate of last known address giving the Ioneses’ addresses.
I

30. Consuelo testified that she did not receive any certified mail relating to: this

foreclosure. She denied receiving any certified mail that she did not claim. She had no knowledge

of any forwarding of mail from her home to any other address. Gabriella likewise testified that

she had never received any certified mail relau'ng to the loan or left any mail ”unclaimed.”

31. At some point Consuelo became aware of the foreclosure proceeding, and on

August 29, 2011, Consuelo sought help from Texas Rio Grande Legal Aid, Who helped fi1:e her

”Response to American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc’s Application for Order Permitting

Foreclosure of Lien Under Texas Constitution Article XVI, §50(a)(6)” in Cause No. C—964—11-B in

the 93rd District Court. The fax stamp at the top shows that it was faxed to ”9563834688” at 3:19

p.m. on August 29, 2011.
I

32. On September 8, 2011, American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. sent a :letter

addressed to Gabriella and Edwin Jones. It states: ”As your mortgage servicer, we want to! help

you stay in your home. We want you to know there is a program that may help you. If you qualify

under the federal government’s Home Affordable Modification (HAMP) program and comply

with the terms of the Home Affordable Modification Program Trial Period Plan, we will modify

your mortgage loan and you can avoid foreclosure." It expressly states that ”[d]uring the HAMP

evaluation we will not refer your home to foreclosure.” It further states that ”[W]hile we Wilil take

steps to ensure that no foreclosure sale will be conducted so that you will not lose your home

during the HAMP evaluation, please note that the court having jurisdiction or the public official

charged with carrying out the foreclosure may fail or refuse to halt that sale." But just two weeks

earlier, Bank Defendants had sought entry of a default order of foreclosure. Gabriella did, in fact,

start the process to apply for a modification. On October 25, 2011, she signed and submitgted a

Financial Analysis form.

33. Nevertheless, and despite their promise to stop foreclosure proceedings, the|Banl<

Defendants pressed forward. No Court or public official forced the Bank Defendants to do Sb. For

example, on October 17, 2011, the Bank Defendants filed a business records affidavit in Causie No.
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C-964—11—B, purporting to prove up the default on the loan, and representing that the principal

balance due was $119,692.40.

34. The same day, the Bank Defendants filed another certificate of last known ad dress,

as a stand-alone document, that falsely lists the address of Shapiro Schwartz, LLP, counsel for

American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc, as the last known address of respondents. Notably, the

certificate does not even identify the Joneses by name.
i

35. Kirk Schwartz, foreclosure counsel for the Bank Defendants, admitted thiclt the

purpose of filing a certificate of last known address in a default case is so that the district: clerk

can send notice of the judgment to the defaulting parties. But because the certificate: gave

Schwartz’s office address as the last known address for respondents, if the clerk were tog send

notice of a default judgment to the parties, that notice would not have gone to the Ionesles—it

would have gone straight back to the Bank Defendants’ lawyers. See TEX. R. CIV. R: 239a

(”Immediately upon the signing of the judgment, the clerk shall‘mail written notice thereof
ito

the

party against whom the judgment was rendered at the address shown in the certificate, ancli note

the fact of such mailing on the docket”).
:

36. Schwartz could not explain why this certificate of last known address diLi not

contain the Joneses’ address. While Schwartz attempted to claim that the certificate of last k:nown

address was not required by the foreclosure rules, it certainly was required in order to éake a

default judgment, and Schwartz was forced to acknowledge as much. TEX. R. CIV. P. 239a! Rule

239a has been in effect since 1967 and applied at the time the certificate 0f last known aderess

was filed.
!

37. Schwartz denied that the Bank Defendants were seeking a default judgmenit, but

he was forced to admit that Gabriella and Edwin Jones had not filed answers. Thus, as to Gafiriefla

and Edwin, the Bank Defendants most certainly were seeking a default judgment, and Schwiartz’s

testimony was disingenuous, at best.

I

38. Only Consuelo had filed an answer. Schwartz’s filing of a certificate 0f last known

address shows that, even after receiving notice that Consuelo had filed an answer, Bank

Defendants were still attempting to obtain a default judgment against her. Schwartz’s testimony

to the contrary is simply not credible.

39. Bank Defendants also filed an order setting hearing, which also required them to

give all parties notice of the hearing. At trial, Bank Defendants submitted a notice of hearing

!

9
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i

purportedly sent t0 Gabriella and Consuelo on November 3, 2011. Despite a requeist for

production from Plaintiffs, Bank Defendants produced only part of this document to Plaintiffs’

counsel during discovery. The document initially produced omitted the last page, which purlports

to be a printout, scanned into Schwartz's document retention system, from USPS.com sholwing

that certified mail was ”unclaimed.” Bank Defendants did not provide this document t0 Plaintiffs'

counsel until the night before trial. Bank Defendants provided no explanation for why they did

not timely produce this document, given that their counsel had it scanned into his docu:ment

system since November 2011. While the Court admitted the document into evidence, as this is a

bench trial, the Court finds it should n0t~be considered because it was not timely produceci, and

no good cause or lack of unfair prejudice was proven by the Bank Defendants. The Courtifinds

Consuelo's and Gabriella’s testimony that she did not receive it or leave it ”unclaimed" as

credible, and Schwartz’s testimony was not credible, particularly given the numerous instances

of misrepresentations made by the Bank Defendants throughout the course of the foreclosure

proceedings and the discovery shenanigans engaged in by the Bank Defendants in this Court.

Incredibly, Schwartz claimed that the laws governing foreclosure proceedings did not reiquire

that the Ioneses actually receive notice of the hearing, even though the order setting hearing that

his office submitted to the Court specifically required him to provide notice, and he knew before

the default hearing on November 30, 2011 that the Joneses had not, in fact, received notice.
i

40. On November 30, 2011, after a hearing at which the Ioneses did not appealr, the

93rd District Court in Cause No. C—964—11—B signed an Order of Foreclosure. Schwartz testified

that he knew that an answer had been filed by Consuelo as early as September 6, 2011. Yét the

proposed order his office submitted, and that was ultimately signed, states that Consuelo IIones

and Gabriella Jones had not filed an answer to the application for foreclosure, which is obviously

false. The false and misleading order was prepared by and ”approved as to form and contefit” by

the Bank Defendants’ lawyers, Schwartz and Shapiro Law Firm. Schwartz claimed thaét the

proposed order was prepared at the time that the Bank Defendants were still seeking a deifault,

and attempted to blame the Court for the error. But nevertheless, Schwartz agreed that TexaFS trial

courts rely on counsel to prepare the orders, and his firm allowed the Court to sign an order that

was false, knowing that Consuelo Jones had filed an answer, and that she had not received Iilotice

of the hearing.
‘

!

10
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41. Bank Defendants never attempted to correct the order after it was signed.

Schwartz claimed that the lawyers at his firm did not notice the defect. Yet they later fileii it in

the real property records and attached it t0 a purported notice of posting the properlty for

foreclosure sale. =

42. The order authorized American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. to forecloée the

purported lien on the Jones’s property. Consuelo Jones testified that she never received a copy of

this order.

43. Despite obtaining the foreclosure order, the Bank Defendants engaged Gabriella

in a lengthy process of obtaining a loan modification, involving multiple submissioins of

information. And despite their promise to halt foreclosure proceedings, the Bank Defen!dants

immediately started getting their ducks in a row to start the process of foreclosure. For example,

Bank Defendants filed an ”Appointment of Substitute Trustee” on December 7, 2011 in

preparation to foreclose.

44. The Bank Defendants claimed to have sent, by certified mail, a letter to Gabriella

on January 10, 2013 providing a copy of a Notice of Trustee’s sale. There is n0 postmark (gm the

letter provided by Bank Defendants, however. And the green card that is normally attacliled to

the actual letter is still attached to the original form, not an envelope.

45. Despite a request for production from Plaintiffs, Bank Defendants produced only

part of this document to Plaintiffs’ counsel, and omitted the last two pages. The last two pages

purport to be envelopes marked as ”unclaimed.” Bank Defendants did not provide these pages

of the documents to Plainfiffs’ counsel until the night before trial began.
i

46. Notably, neither of the two envelopes purportedly returned as ”unclaimed? and

presented by Bank Defendants are addressed to Gabriella, and Schwartz likewise did not have a

returned green card 0r any other documentary proof of mailing to provide to the court.

Nevertheless, Schwartz testified that the letter was mailed, but he conceded that he did notéplace

the letter in the mailbox himself. He could only speculate that his mail clerk mailed theiletter

based on unidentified ”milestones” apparently existing on his computer system, Which were

never produced to Plaintiffs or presented at trial. Schwartz claimed to have discussed the‘issue

With his mail clerk, who was never identified as a person with knowledge of relevant faicts in

response to discovery and who was not brought to testify at trial. The Court finds Schwartz’s

testimony was not credible or based on sufficient personal knowledge.

11
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47. While the Court admitted the envelopes into evidence, given this is a bench: trial,

the Court finds this evidence should not be considered against the Ioneses because it waES not

timely produced, and Bank Defendants did not establish good cause or lack of prej1!1dice.

Furthermore, the Court finds Consuelo and Gabriella’s testimony that they did not receive or

leave mail ”unclaimed” as credible, and Schwartz’s testimony was not credible, particularly igiven

the numerous instances of misrepresentations made by the Bank Defendants throughout the

course of the foreclosure proceedings and the discovery shenanigans engaged in by theéBank

Defendants in this Court.

48. The letter recites that the foreclosure would be based on an order signed on March

20, 2011 in Cause No. C—369-11—B. But there is no such order. As stated above, the actual

foreclosure order was signed on November 30, 2011.
i

49. The attached notice of trustee’s sale purportedly sent to the Ioneses states that the

foreclosure sale would be conducted on February 5, 2013 between 10:00 a.m. and 4:00 ip.m.,

beginning not earlier than 10:00 a.m. or not later than three hours thereafter. Schwartz conceded

that under Texas law applicable at the time, although the law gives a creditor a six—hour Wirgdow

to conduct a sale, the notice had to specify the time the sale will start, ahd the sale must be

conducted Within three hours of the start time. TEX. PROP. CODE § 51.002(a), (c) (West 2013) (”The

salé must begin at the time stated in the notice of sale or not later than three hours after that

time”). The purpose of providing a specific time, Schwartz conceded, is so that potential blilyers

and debtors do not have to wait six hours for a sale..
‘

50. The notice of sale purportedly sent to the Ioneses says the sale will be conducted

by Monty Medley as trustee. But the notice of sale that was actually posted at the courthouse

states that the sale would be conducted by Connie Medley. Schwartz admitted that the notice of

trustee sale that was posted at the courthouse, that actually identified the trustee that Would

conduct the sale, was never provided to the Ioneses, in violation of Texas Property Code seiction

51.002(b). And Schwartz admitted that the notice of mustee's sale purportedly sent to the Ioheses

was not filed With the county clerk, as required by section 51.002(b).
i

51. As if that weren’t enough to cause confusion to the general public and the Iofieses,

the trustee’s deed shows that Connie Medley did not conduct the sale—it was conducte!d by

Monty Medley. Schwartz agreed that ”if the public is looking for Connie Medley in order tolghave

a chance to buy this property, . . . they couldn’t find Connie Medley that day because it was Monty

12
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I

[Medley] conducting the sale.” The trustee’s deed, which was filed with the county clerk, attéched

a notice of trustee’s sale and an affidavit from a Schwartz employee. The affidavit, Which was

sworn under oath, stated that the attached notice of trustee’s sale was posted With the clounty

clerk and served on the Ioneses. But the notice of trustee’s sale attached was the copy filed With

the county clerk and posted at the courthouse that was not served on the Joneses. When pres-Iented

with this discrepancy, Schwartz backtracked his earlier testimony and attempted to say th:at the

affidavit was truthful, When it clearly wasn’t. Schwartz attempted to testify that chen
Defendants’ exhibit 25 provided proof that the copy posted at the courthouse was also served on

the Ioneses, but he was caught in a lie. The Court finds that Schwartz’s backtracking and

inconsistent testimony renders him not credible as a witness.

=

52. On January 25, 2013, Gabriella again applied for a loan modification. Nevertheless,

on February 5, 2013, the foreclosure sale was held by Homeward Residential, not American Home

Mortgage Servicing, Inc, who was the party named in the November 30, 2011 order autho:rizing

the foreclosure.

53. Deutsche bought the property at the foreclosure sale for $84,319. But the va;1ue of

the home, and the debt, was much higher. N0 Witness for the Bank Defendants could explain why

such a 10W amount was paid for the property, even though in October 2011, the Bank Defendants

had represented the amount due to be $119,692.40. The Court finds that the Bank Defenidants

intended to pocket as much money for the property as they could without crediting anythging to

the Joneses, and that is exactly what they did.

54. Gabriella testified that she was not aware of any home equity lender that v§ou1d

lend 100% of the property value. Indeed, the Texas Constitution requires that a home equit; loan

be of a ”principal amount that when added to the aggregate total of the outstanding prilicipal

balances of all other indebtedness secured by valid encumbrances of record agains;t the

homestead does not exceed 80% of the fair market value of the homestead on the dat!e the

extension of credit is made.” Gabriella opined, Without objection, that if a person requesteéi and

obtained a loan for $111,000, it would be fair to believe that the lender assessed the value lof the

home as more than $111,000. And on June 21, 2004, at the time of the loan, the house was vglued

at $148,000. The lender accepted that estimated value and granted the loan on that basis.

55. Altisource Real Estate Valuation Services valued the home as of May 2014.

Gabriella testified, Without objection, that the market value of the home was assessed by
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Altisource at $154,000. She further testified, without objection, that Zillow estimated the vaélue as

$162,091, and Realtor.com estimated the value at $174,200. Furthermore, Gabriella tes'tified,

Without objection, that according to the Greater McAllen Association of Realtors, the estimated

value of the home as of the day before trial was $173,120, and provided a range of values of

$147,152 to $199,088.
'

56. Gabriella also testified that she spoke With an appraiser in the area andNick

Cantu, the president of the realtor association for the entire state of Texas. Gabriella testified that

based on all this data and her conversations, she believed the value of the property on February

5, 2013 was between $150,000 and $160,000. The property is in a highly desired school districit that

a lot of people are trying to move into.
l

57. Given the conflicts of interest involved With the low estimates by Altisourcé, and

the fact that the Zillow estimate was identified as REO occupied, meaning that at the time it was

owned by the lender, the Court does not credit the 10w estimated values for the property.

Considering the range of values provided, and the fact that the property was in a highly desired

school district, the Court values the home at $160,000 at the time of the foreclosure sale, andifinds

that the property was substantially undervalued at the time 0f the foreclosure.

58. Deutsche attempted to evict the Joneses. On July 29, 2013, Deutsche filed a forcible

detainer action in the Justice Court Precinct 3 of Hidalgo County in Cause No. FD13-128—31. On

July 30, 2013, Consuelo Jones received a notice attached to her door that she was being served

With process. When it was explained to her that the bank was attempting to evict her fr01:n her

home, Consuelo took this as a strike to her dignity, and she was emotionally distressecil and

ashamed to have to tell her children, and it was a burden that she carried through the date of trial.

59. The justice court granted Deutsche possession of the property, but the Ioheses

appealed t0 the County Court No. 8 in Cause No. CL-13-3297OH. In the de novo appeal, the

County Court No. 8 determined that the Joneses were entitled to possession of the property. The

County Court No. 8 issued findings of fact and conclusions of law. The trial court foumi that

Deutsche bank provided no evidence that it had provided a copy of the November 30, 2011 lorder

of foreclosure to the Joneses, and that the notice of trustee's sale dated January 15, 2013 was igsued

by Homeward Residential, Who was not the applicant that secured the order of foreclésure.

Additionally, the County Court No. 8 found that the substitute trustee's deed recited that an [order

to proceed with notice of foreclosure sale had been issued on March 20, 2011, but no such Order
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was provided. Furthermore, there was n0 evidence that the Joneses had been provided With a

proper demand for possession, that the period of time to vacate the property had expired, that

the Ioneses had refused to surrender possession in response to a proper demand, or that Deutsche

had a superior right to immediate possession.

60. Deutsche appealed the case to the Thirteenth Court of Appeals. On July 2,| 2015,

the Court 0f Appeals issued its decision. chen and Deutsche were represented by courglsel in

. !

these proceedings, Which were communicating with chen, and chen was acting on behalf of

Deutsche Bank as its servicing agent. The Thirteenth Court of Appeals issued its decision ogn July

2, 2015 affirming the trial court’s judgment and finding that there was n0 evidence proauced

establishing that Deutsche gave the Joneses notice to vacate 0r that the Ioneses had refufsed t0

vacate.
I

61. While the ink on that ruling was still wet, Deutsche filed yet another suit to? evict

the Ioneses on July 22, 2015. On July 28, 2015, Consuelo Jones received another notice on her? front

door stating that service of process had been attempted for Cause No. LT145-15-31. This :notice

again caused extreme emotional distress. Consuelo Jones felt it was ”another ice bucket pioured

on [her], a knot in her stomach, a knot in her heart.” She believed her world was crumbh'njg, and

she felt destroyed. She testified that the feeling continues on and is always present in her Emjnd,

her heart, and in her life, and it is impossible to push it aside. As With the earlier notice for :Cause

N0. FD13-128-31, Consuelo discussed the notice with Gabriella, who reacted by crying and with

sadness, pain, and anger. It also caused anger between Consuelo and Gabriella, leading to sieveral

negative reactions, tenseness, and arguments between the two.
I

62. On August 28, 2015, the trial court dismissed the suit. Deutsche appealed :to the

County Court at Law No. 2 in Cause No. CL—15-3500-B. The Ioneses again won the appeal by way

of an oral ruling, but no judgment had been issued, and the case was still pending at the time 0f

trial. i

63. Despite losing multiple eviction suits and an appeal to the Thirteenth Court of

Appeals, the Bank Defendants posted the property for sale on Hubzu, an internet auction site,

which chen uses to host all 0f its auctions. On February 3, 2016, the Bank Defendants so'ld the

property to MARCC for $95,394. Roma Caguiat, owner of MARCC, believed that at the time she

purchased the home, it was worth between $130,000 and $140,000. The property was not even

i
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listed for more than $100,000, because if it had been, Roma Caguiat testified MARCC would not

have bid 0n it.

64. On February 13, 2016, MARCC delivered notice to the Ioneses that it had

purchased the property and that they had three days to vacate the property or else face yet

another lawsuit. Seeing this notice caused Consuelo to again recall her feelings of pain, s}|1ame,

and that she would be out on the streets.
I

65. On February 18, 2016, MARCC filed suit in Cause No. LT16—0085—I32 in the rustice

Court Precinct 3. That case was dismissed on March 10, 2016.

66. MARCC then attempted again t0 evict the Joneses and filed suit in Causle No.

LT16-0220-J31 in the Justice Court Precinct 3. Consuelo received notice on her front dooir. She

recalled feeling threatened. Receiving all the notices caused her to lose concentration, lose isleep,

and tortured her mind ”all the time." The fear of losing her home, With substantial sentinl1ental

value because of the family memories, the shelter it provides, and the safety, was overwheliming.

Consuelo explained that the stress from the foreclosure process interfered with her daily iife in

that it prevented her from performing community service, Which she enjoyed. She was onlly able

to resume that service work two seeks before trial in November 2019. Consuelo testified th:at she

has to take medication for high blood pressure and for anxiety. In August 201 6, Consuelo h!ad the

onset of a stroke and ended up With facial paralysis, and suffered severe heart issues.

67. Gabriella testified that when she learned that the home had been foreclosed oln and

that she was being evicted, she was in shock. She testified that she thought she was ”going to be

in this home” and was ”protected,” But she was not. She was afraid that her family woultii ”out

on the street.” She testified that
if
caused mental stress and anguish, and still did as of the dlate of

trial. For the almost seven years between the foreclosure in 2013 and the trial 2019, she suffered

through multiple eviction proceedings. Those proceedings have interrupted her daily llife by

taking time away from work, and it has ruined her holidays and her time with her family, as they

are worried they may become homeless.

68. Gabriella’s emotional distress has been so bad that she broke out in hives frolm the

stress and had to seek medical attention, at least once or twice a year since the process began. She

testified that there were days where she had t0 ”completely shut down everything and everyone

and be alone. It’s a burden." And it interfered with her ability to function, and prevented her from
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being able to focus. She stated Ithat ”it’s always in the back of my mind thinking what are we

going to do, what's the next step, how am I going to protect my family.”

69. MARCC obtained a judgment of possession, and Ioneses appealed to the Clounty

Court at Law No. 6 in Cause No. CL—16—2561—F. That case remained pending at time of triall.

70. As if that were not enough, Gabriella testified, without objection, that 0n Jainuary

25, 2017, she received a form 1099-C from Defendant chen. chen reported to the IRS Hlat it

had canceled the debt in the amount of $136,684.92, Which obviously did not include any credit

for the sale to MARCC. The form 1099—C expressly states 0n its face that it was for ”cancellation

of debt” and references ”identifiable event code G.” Code G refers to a ”decision or poiicy t0

discontinue collection. Code G is sued to identify cancellation of debt as a result of a decislion or

a defined policy of the creditor to discontinue collection activity and cancel the debt.” See

https: / /www.irs.gov/pubhcafions/ p4681#:~:text=Code%20G —
V

Decision%2001'%20p01icv,activitv%20and%20cance1%20the%20debt (Last Visited May 7, 2023).

chen issued this 1099-C despite the fact that home equity notes are non-recourse against the

homeowner. This caused even more emotional distress to Gabriella—it caused her to fea2r that

one day, the IRS would arrive at her door to ask her to pay for the tax liability for an amouré1t that

did not even include credit for the sale to MARCC. She explained that it was a ”big stressof" and

that she thinks about the potential tax liability every day.

I

71. Benjamin Verooren testified on behalf of the Bank Defendants. He was notified he

would testify in July or August 2019, but he was never disclosed as a witness in response to

discovery. He was employed by chen Financial Corporation, who is not even a party ito the

lawsuit, but owns chen Loan Servicing. The Bank Defendants refused to call Veroéren a

”corporate representative," but stated he would testify as a custodian of records, even though

someone else was identified in discovery as the custodian of records.

72. Verooren testified that he is a ”Senior Loan Analyst," and described his job duties

as requiring him to ”attend trials, depositions, mediations.” He is tasked With reviewingnbooks

and records to prepare him for his appearances and assignments, and he works With other teams

and departments to help prepare. In other words, Verooren was a paid, professional witnless for

the Bank Defendants, who the Bank Defendants chose to hide until trial.
‘

73. Verooren knew nothing about this case until he was assigned to it in Iguly or

August of 2019. He had no personal knowledge of any of the facts of this case. He only reviewed
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the documents shown to him by the lawyers and frequently denied knowledge of events that

occurred in this case. As such, the Court finds his protestations and explanations for the events

giving rise to the Joneses’ claims are contrived, not based on personal knowledge, not credible,

and not deserving of any weight.
E

74. The Court apportions fault for the injuries suffered by Consuelo and Gaibriella

Jones 100% to the Bank Defendants. While the testimony showed that the repeated exiliction

proceedings involved MARCC, they were all caused by the Bank Defendants’ tortious coinduct,

and MARCC was simply another victim—MARCC was unaware of any problems With! prior

foreclosures or with the invalidity of the note and related documents between the; Bank

Defendants and the Joneses, of Which the Bank Defendants were certainly aware.

75. The parties agreed to submit testimony regarding attorney fees by affidavit. The

Court finds that the attorney and paralegal fees incurred and requested by Plaintiffs :in the

amount $400,000.00 are reasonable and necessary attorney and paralegal fees, and that the ?award

0f that amount to Plaintiffs would be equitable and just. The Court finds that the adjusted lilourly

rates proposed by Plaintiffs are reasonable rates for necessary work, given the resfiective

attorneys’ and paralegals’ experience, reputation, and abilities, and given the need to éefend

against the Bank Defendants’ counterclaim, the multi—year delay in receiving payment, and the

risk of not recovering at all due to the contingency fee agreement. The Court finds as crédible,

and based on review of the invoices and the credible expert testimony, that a 20% reduction for

non-recoverable fees is proper, and awards fees incurred in this lawsuit only on recovierable

claims. Thus, the Court awards $380,254.70 as reasonable and necessary, equitable arid just

attorney and paralegal fees through March 31, 2020. The Court has considered the Rolizrmoos

Factors in its analysis.

76. The Court finds that a reasonable and necessary attorney fee for the work tflrough

the entry of judgment in this case is $19,745.30, and that awarding this amount is equitabile and

just. I

77. The court finds that Plaintiffs incurred costs of $11,258.00, and that it is eqtllitable

and just to award these costs.

78. Additionally, the Court finds that if the case is appealed to the Thirteenth Court of

Appeals, and Plaintiffs prevail, Plaintiffs will incur an additional $10,000.00 in reasonable and

necessary attorney fees, and that such conditional award is equitable and just. Additionalgly, the
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Court finds that if the case is appealed to the Texas Supreme Court, and Plaintiffs prevail,

Plaintiffs will incur an additional $10,000.00 in reasonable and necessary attorney fees, and that

|

such conditional award is equitable and just.
‘

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1. This Court has the authority to revisit a previously rendered summary judgment

so long as the Court affords the parties an opportunity to litigate the issue. See Bi-Ed, itd. v.

Ramsey, 935 S.W.2d 122, 123 (Tex. 1996);-Elder Constr., Inc. v. City of Colleyville, 839 S.W.2d'91, 92

(Tex. 1992). Bank Defendants did not properly request a continuance or ask to recess 0f the case

after Plaintiffs requested that the Court withdraw its summary judgment rulings, and this gCourt

provided all parties the opportunity to litigate all issues raised in the case. Any harm from

withdrawing the prior summary judgment rulings has been ameliorated or waived.

Declaratory reliefawarded t0 Gabriella and Consuelo [ones

2. Contrary to Bank Defendants’ arguments, declaratory relief is available to assess

the validity 0f notes and liens under the Texas Constitution, even if the result implicates :title t0

the property. Cadle C0. v. Ortiz, 227 S.W.3d 831, 837—38 (Tex. App.—Corpus Christi—Edinburg

2007, pet. denied). Furthermore, actions seeking the recission 0f foreclosure sales are properly

brought under the Texas declaratory judgments act. Trien v. Fed. Home Loan Mortgage Cor€p., 400

F. Supp. 3d 596, 601 (W.D. Tex. 2019); Alanis v. 11.5. Bank, 489 S.W.3d 485, 501—03 (Tex. App.—

Houston [lst Dist] 2015, pet. denied); Cadle C0., 227 S.W.3d at 833, 837. Homeowners are ehtitled

to seek declaratory relief ”as to the invalidity of [a] lien.” Schmidt v. Crawford, 584 S.W.3d 61:10, 656

(Tex. App. —Houst0n [lst Dist] 2019, no pet.) (citing Kyle v. Strasburger, 522 S.W.3d 461, 465 (Tex.

2017)). ”Section 37.004 of the TDJA explicitly permits ’a person interested under a deed’ toiseek a

determination of ’any question of construction or validity arising under the instrumerht and

obtain a declaration of rights, status, o1" other legal relations thereunder.” Porterfield v. Déutsche

Bank Nnt’l Tr. Co., No.'SA:16-CV—105-DAE, 2016 WL 5017344, at *7 (W.D. Tex. Sept. 19, 201:6).

3. Texas Constitution Article XVI section 50(a) imposes requirements on 1ende%s who

seek to force a sale of a family’s homestead for the payment of debts. Tex. Const. art. XVI, § 50.

For example, section 50(a)(6)(C) precludes foreclosure on a family homestead unless the Siebt is

”without recourse for personal liability against each owner and the spouse of each owner, Iunless

the owner or spouse obtained the extension of credit by actual fraud.” Tex. Const. art. WI, §
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i

50(a)(6)(C). Furthermore, section 50(a)(6)(M) precludes foreclosure on a family homestead 1:1nless

the debt transaction ”is closed not before:

(i) the 12th day after the later of the date that the owner of the homestead submits

a loan application to the lender for the extension of credit or the date that the

lender provides the owner a copy of the notice prescribed by Subsection (g) of

this section;

(ii) one business day after the date that the owner of the homestead receives a

copy of the loan application if not previously provided and a final itemized

disclosure of the actual fees, points, interest, costs, and charges that Will be

charged at closing. If a bona fide emergency or another good cause exists and the

lender obtains the written consent of the owner, the lender may provide the

documentation to the owner or the lender may modify previously provided

documentation on the date 0f Closing.”
|

|

Tex. Const. art. XVI, § 50(a)(6)(M). Section 50(g) requires the lender to provide the text of siection

50 to the debtor. Tex. Const. art. XVI, § 50(g).

4. Section 50(c) then provides:

No mortgage, trust deed, or other lien on the homestead shall ever be valid unless
I

it secures a debt described by this section, whether such mortgage, trust deed, or

other lien, shall have been created by the owner alone, or together with his or her

spouse, in case the owner is married. A11 pretended sales of the homestead
i

involving any condition of defeasance shall be void.

Tex. Const. art. XVI, § 50(C).

5. Plaintiffs proved that the home equity loan application was submitted on the day

of closing. Gabriella Jones testified that the application dated June 21, 2004 is the only applicafion

she has ever seen, and no other application was produced in this case by the Bank Defendants

during discovery or offered into evidence. The Court will not speculate that another application

could have been submitted by Edwin Jones prior to June 21, 2004, as requested by; Bank

Defendants. The Court also rejects the Bank Defendants’ argument that a mere recital in

contractual documents that the 12—day Closing requirement imposed by the Texas Constitution

has been complied With requires a different outcome in this case. The Texas Constitution relquires

actual compliance, not a mere recital of compliance, and the testimony and evidence at trial jshows

the Bank Defendants failed to comply. Wood v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A., 505 S.W.3d 542, 54g (Tex.

2016) (”What the Constitution forbids cannot be evaded even by agreement of the parfigs, and
I

what is "never valid is always void").

20

Page 116

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?cite=505+S.W.+3d+542&fi=co_pp_sp_4644_54&referencepositiontype=s


6. The Court finds and declares that Texas Home Equity Adjustable Rate Npte in

favor of Ameriquest Mortgage Company and signed by Plaintiff Gabriella Jones and Edwin: Jones

on June 21, 2004 is unconstitutional, void, and unenforceable by the Bank Defendants 01" their

agents, successors, 01‘ assigns, by way of forced sale or foreclosure, in that it fails to complil With

Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6). The closing occurred on the same day that Plaintiffs

submitted their loan application in violation of Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(:M)(i).

The closing also occurred on the same day that Plaintiffs were provided With a final iteim'zed

disclosure of the actual fees, points, interest, costs, and charges that would be charged at closing

in violation of Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(ii). Additionally, Bank Deferidants

failed to provide the required notice of rights under Texas Constitution article XVI, § 50(g):

7. The Texas Home Equity-Security Instrument (First Lien) in favor of Ameriquest

Mortgage Company signed by Plaintiff Gabriella Jones, Plaintiff Consuelo Jones, and Edwin: Jones

on June 21, 2004 is unconstitutional, void, and unenforceable by the Bank Defendants or their

agents, successors, or assigns, by way of forced sale or foreclosure, in that it fails to compl}; with

Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6). The closing occurred on the same day that Plaintiffs

submitted their loan application in violation of Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(i).

The closing also occurred on the same day that Plaintiffs were provided with a final itemized

disclosure of the actual fees, points, interest, costs, and charges that would be charged at cilosing

in violation of Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(ii). Additionally, Bank Defefidants

failed to provide the required notice of rights under Texas Constitution article XVI, § 50(g).

8. The Texas Home Equity Affidavit and Agreement (First Lien) in faxi/or of

Ameriquest Mortgage Company signed by Plaintiff Gabriella Jones, Plaintiff Consuelo Jone:s, and

Edwin Jones on June 21, 2004 is unconstitutional, void, and unenforceable by the; Bank

Defendants or their agents, successors, or assigns, by way of forced sale 0r foreclosure, in that it

fails to comply with Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6). The closing occurred on thé same

day that Plaintiffs submitted their loan application in violation of Texas Constitution articlé XVI,

§50(a)(6)(M)(i). The closing also occurred on the same day that Plaintiffs were provided with a

final itemized disclosure of the actual fees, points, interest, costs, and charges that would be

charged at closing in violation of Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(ii). AdditiQnally,

Bank Defendants failed to provide the required notice of rights under Texas Constitution iarticle

XVI, § 50(g).

:
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9. All assignments and transfers of the note and lien arising from (a) the Texas I;Iome

Equity Adjustable Rate Note signed by Plaintiff Gabriella Jones and Edwin Jones on June 21,! 2004,

(b) the Texas Home Equity Security Instrument (First Lien) signed by Plaintiff Gabriella iones,

Plaintiff Consuelo Jones, and Edwin Jones signed on June 21, 2004, and (c) the Texas Home Equity

Affidavit and Agreement (First Lien) signed by Plaintiff Gabriella Jones, Plaintiff Consuelo jones,

and Edwin Jones on June 21, 2004, are unconstitutional, void, and unenforceable by theiBank

Defendants or their agents, successors, or assigns, by way of forced sale or foreclosure, in that

they are based on invalid, unenforceable, unconstitutional, and void transactions. The closing of

the equity loan underlying the assignments and transfers occurred on the same day that Plaintiffs

submitted their loan application in violation of Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(i).

The closing also occurred on the same day that Plaintiffs were provided with a final itefifized

disclosure of the actual fees, points, interest, costs, and charges that would be charged at closing

in Violation 0f Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(ii). Additionally, Bank Defendants

failed to provide the required notice of rights under Texas Constitution article XVI, § 50(g);

10. The Bank Defendants failed to perfect a valid lien on the property with mé legal

description of ”ALL OF LOT 56, COUNTRY ESTATES AN ADDITION TO THE CIT:Y OF

MISSION, HIDALGO COUNTY, TEXAS ACCORDING TO THE MAP THEREOF IN VOLUME

28, PAGE 48A OF THE MAP RECORDS, HIDALGO COUNTY, TEXAS.“ The closing of the equity

loan underlying the lien occurred on the same day that Plaintiffs submitted their loan application

in violation of Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(i). The closing also occurred (:Jn the

same day that Plaintiffs were provided with a final itemized disclosure 0f the actual fees, points,

interest, costs, and charges that would be charged at closing in violation of Texas Constiitution

article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(ii). Additionally, Bank Defendants failed to provide the required hotice

0f rights under Texas Constitution article XVI, § 50(g).

I

11. The Substitute Trustee’s Deed dated February 7, 2013 and filed as Document 2013—

2383031 in the Official Deed Records of Hidalgo County, Texas is void, unenforceablt—iz, and
|

otherwise set aside as relating to the following property: "ALL OF LOT 56, COUNTRY ESTATES

AN ADDITION TO THE CITY OF MISSION, HIDALGO COUNTY, TEXAS ACCORDING TO

THE MAP THEREOF IN VOLUME 28, PAGE 48A OF THE MAP RECORDS, HIDJALGO

COUNTY, TEXAS. The closing of the equity loan underlying substitute trustee's deed occlurred

on the same clay that Plaintiffs submitted their loan application in Violation of Texas Constitution
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article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(i). The closing also occurred on the same day that P1aintiffs_| were

provided with a final itemized disclosure of the actual fees, points, interest, costs, and charges

that would be charged at Closing in violation 0f Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(ii).

Additionally, Bank Defendants failed t0 provide the required notice of rights under Texas

Constitution article XVI, § 50(g).

12. The Special Warranty Deed dated February 3, 2016 from Deutsche Bank Né!tiona1

Trust Company, as Trustee for Ameriquest Mortgage Securities, Inc, Asset—Backed Pass—Thirough

Certificates, Series 2004—R8 to MARCC Real Estate Investment is void, unenforceablel, and

otherwise set aside as relating to the following property: "ALL OF LOT 56, COUNTRY ESTiATES

AN ADDITION TO THE CITY OF MISSION, HIDALGO COUNTY, TEXAS ACCORDING TO

THE MAP THEREOF IN VOLUME 28, PAGE 48A OF THE MAP RECORDS, HIDALGO

COUNTY, TEXAS." The closing of the equity giving rise to this transactionoccurred 0n the! same

day that Plaintiffs submitted their loan application in violation 0f Texas Constitution articlge XVI,

§50(a)(6)(M)(i). The closing also occurred on the same day that Plaintiffs were provided With a

final itemized disclosure of the actual fees, points, interest, costs, and charges that W01i11d be

charged at closing in Violation of Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(M)(ii). Additiénally,

Bank Defendants failed to provide the required notice of rights under Texas Constitution Earticle

XVI, § 50(g).
i

13. The Ioneses were not required to tender or be willing to tender the borrowed‘funds

back to the Bank Defendants in order to obtain declaratory relief that the foregoing transalctions

were unconstitutional, void, and unenforceable by way of forced sale. Home equity leaps are

nonrecourse against the borrower under Texas Constitution article XVI, §50(a)(6)(C), and tlile sole

action a lender can take is againstthe property. See Ann Graham, VWtere Agencies, the Courits, and

the Legislature Collide: Ten Years of Interpreting the Texas Constitutional Provisions for Home Equity

Izznding, 9 Tex. Tech Admin. LJ. 69, 77 (2007) (”The Texas constitutional borrower protections

have a severe downside for lenders. If the lender has violated even one of these complex and

ambiguous constitutional condition precedent to establishing a lien on homestead property in

Texas, the lender (unless it cures the defect) has no valid lien and cannot foreclose 0n the prdperty.

With neither recourse against the borrower nor a valid lien, the lender loses the entife loan

amount").
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14. Furthermore, while Bank Defendants argue that Plaintiffs were required t0 tlender

the borrowed funds and that the Texas Constitution requires borrowers to provide 6&9-days

written notice of any constitutional violation, allowing the lender to cure any such violatioin and

maintain the validity of the lien, Plaintiffs were not required to prove these issues. Plalintiffs

expressly pleaded that all conditions precedent to recovery had been satisfied. Bank Deferlldants

did not file a specific denial pointing out the failure to tender the borrowed funds 0r give inotice

and an opportunity to cure, and these issues were not tried by consent. Accordingly, Plaiinfiffs

were not required to prove they tendered the borrowed funds 0r provided notice a?nd an

opportunity to cure under the Texas Constitution. See Tex. R. Civ. P. 54 ("In pleadiljlg the

performance or occurrence of conditions precedent, it shall be sufficient to aver generally tfhat all

conditions precedent have been performed 0r have occurred. When such performanées or

occurrences have been so plead, the party so pleading same shall be required to prove only such

of them as are specifically denied by the opposite party.”); see also Tex. R. Civ. P. 93(12) (reqiuiring

that denial of notice or proof of loss ”shall be made specifically and with particularity"); Rise

Above Steel C0., LLC. v. Liberty Mut. Ins. -C0., 656 S.W.3d 577, 584 (Tex. App. —El Paso 2022, nio pet.)

(”A defendant cannot generally deny that the plaintiff has not proved all conditions precédent,

but must specifically deny which conditions precedent have not been met”); Hynds v. Fostér, No.

01-15-01034—CV, 2017 WL 769909, at *13 (Tex. App.—Houston [lst Dist] Feb. 28, 2017, 11¢) pet.)

(mem. op.) (“Although Hynds denied that Foster gave ”notice and proof 0f his claim as allseged,’

he did not specifically deny that Foster had failed to present his contract claim as requili'ed by

statute. As a result, Hynds has waived his right to complain about Foster’s failure to pleafd and

prove presentment on appeal.”); Wade 8’ Sons, Inc. v. Am. Standard, Ina, 127 S.W.3d 814, 826: (Tex.

App. —San Antonio 2003, pet. denied) (”A defendant cannot generally deny that the plaintfiff has

not proved all conditions precedent, but must specifically deny which conditions precedenit have

not been met. By failing to specifically deny that Trane failed to give proper notice, Consolildated,

Browning, ahd Federal waived their right to complain of such failure on appeal.”); Fillion v.iDavid

Silvers C0., 709 S.W.2d 240, 246 (Tex. App.— Houston [14th Dist] 1986, writ ref’d n.r.e.) (desc:ribing

tender of borrowed funds as a ”condition precedent”).
i

15. Under the UDJA, this Court may award ”costs and reasonable and neclessary

attorney's fees as are equitable and just.” Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 37.009. The Codrt can
|

award reasonable and necessary attorney fees to the prevailing party or even t0 the nonprexfailmg
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party. ”[T]he award 0f attorney’s fees indeclaratory judgment actions is clearly within the trial

court’s discretion and is not dependent on a finding that a party “substantially prevailed.”

Barshop v. Medina Cnty. Underground Water Conservation Dist, 925 S.W.2d 618, 637 (Tex. 19%).

16. Even if this Court is ultimately determined to be wrong in awarding declaratory

relief to Plaintiffs, it still finds that the award of attorney fees in this case would be equitable and

just despite a reversal of the declaratory relief. Kachimz Pipeline C0., Inc. v. Lillis, 471 S.W.3id 445,

455 (Tex. 2015) (”When an appellate court reverses a declaratory judgment, it may reve3rse an

attorney’s fee award, but it is not required to do 50.”). The court finds it would be equitabile and

just to award Plaintiffs’ attorney’s fees even if Plaintiffs are determined to be the nonpreéailing

party on their own claims. And even if it is determined that Plaintiffs were required to élect a

remedy on their affirmative claims, this Court can award the attorney fees based on Defengdants’

own request for declaratory relief, regardless 0f who is ultimately determined to be the Wiriner of

that claim on appeal. Thus, the Court finds that under any set of circumstances after an aippeal,

the award of Plaintiffs’ reasonable and necessary attorney’s fees are equitable and just.

=

Equitable subrogation claim
l

17. The Court rejects Bank Defendants’ conditional counter—claim for declagratory

relief that they are equitably and/or contractually subrogated to the Bank of America Lieré up to

an amount equivalent t0 $75,817.72 plus interest. Texas courts ”have honored eqtfilitable

subrogation claims against homestead property When a refinance, even though unconsfituitional,

was used to pay off valid liens." LaSalle Bank Nat. Ass’n v. I/Vhite, 246 S.W.3d 616, 619 (Tex.{2007).

But Bank Defendants did not submit proof that the Bank of America lien was valid; the ohginal

note was never offered into evidence, nor was the actual assignment 0f that note to Bank of

America presented into evidence. Without more proof, this Court cannot determine tha; Bank

Defendants are entitled to equitable subrogation.

18. Moreover, without the original note, this Court cannot determine the interest rate

t0 be applied to the subrogation Claim. While Bank Defendants assert they are entitled t0 6%

statutory interest under Texas Finance Code § 302.002, that statutory rate only applies ”[i]f a

creditor has not agreed With an obligor to charge the obligor any interest.” Tex. Fin. Code Ann. §

302.002. In contrast, ”[i]f an obligor has agreed t0 pay t0 a creditor any compensation that

constitutes interest, the obligor is considered to have agreed on the rate produced by the amount

of that interest, regardless of Whether that rate is stated in the agreement." Id.
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19. Moreover, Bank Defendants waived any claim for subrogation by cancelilng the

entire debt, as shown by their issuance of the 1099-C, With an event code G, to Gabriella: Jones

showing that it had canceled the debt in the amount of $136,684.92. See

https: / /www.irsgov/publications/ p4681#:~:text=Code%20G —

Decision%2001'%20p01icv,activitv%20and%20cance1%20the%20debt (Last visited Mat 7, 2023).

79. Finally, the subrogation claim is barred by the statute of limitations. A lelnder’s

cause of action to ”enforce its subrogation lien rights accrues on the date the refinancing loan

matures. If the maturity of the refinancing loan is accelerated, the debt is mature for purpogses of

both the lender’s contractual rights and its subrogation rights.” PNC Mortgage v. Howar:d, 651

S.W.3d 154, 159—60 (Tex. App. — Dallas 2021, pet. granted). The application for foreclosure, €giving

rise to the order of foreclosure that has been the basis of all the litigation at issue in thi:s case,

stated that American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. gave notice of its intent to accelerate oin July

21, 2009 and accelerated the debt on February 23, 2011. The statute of limitations required %uit be

filed within 4 years after the refinancing loan was accelerated; thus, the four-year statiute of

i

20. Plaintiffs filed this lawsuit on January 26, 2017. By that time, the limitations period

limitations expired on February 23, 2015.

|

for Bank Defendants’ subrogation counterclaim had already expired. Thus, to involl<e the

limitations period in Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code section 16.069’3 benefit,| Bank

Defendants were required to file their counterclaim to declare their equitable subrogation rights

no later than the 30th day after the date they were required to answer. Tex. Civ. Prac. 8: Rem. Code

§ 16.069(b).

21. Defendant Homeward Residential Inc. (f/k/ a American Home Mortgage

Servicing, Inc.) was served on March 1, 2017. Defendant Deutsche Bank National Trust Company

as trustee for Ameriquest Mortgage Securities, inc, Asset—Backed Pass-Through Certif!icates,

Series 2004-R8, was not served but answered on March 27, 2017. Defendant chenl Loan

Servicing LLC was served on March 1, 2017.

22. Bank Defendants did not assert their counter-claim for contractual 0r equitable

subrogation until March 25, 2019. Accordingly, the claim was barred by limitations. Importantly,

Bank Defendants did not seek to foreclose on the allegedly equitably subrogated lien, and it has

been over 4 years since they asserted their entitlement to a subrogated lien. Accordingly, they

would not be able to initiate a new foreclosure suit on their subrogated lien at this point afiyway.

l
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Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 16.035(b). In other words, their request for declaratory relief is for

all practical purposes moot.

Plaintifi‘s’ Intentional Infliction ofEmotional Distress Claims

23. The four elements of the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress are: ”(1)

the defendant acted intentionally or recklessly; (2) such conduct was extreme and outrageql115; (3)

the conduct of the defendant caused the plaintiff mental distress; and (4) such distreSFS was

severe.” LaCoure v.1 LaCoure, 820 S.W.2d 228, 233 (Tex. App. —E1 Paso 1991, writ denied). ”iIntent

may be inferred from the circumstances and the conduct of the actor, not just from the' overt

expressions of intent by the actor.” Id.

|

24. Separate and apart from the problems with the home equity loan under theiTexas

Constitution, Bank Defendants acted in an extreme and outrageous way in their condFuct in

foreclosing on the property, their repeated failed attempts to evict the Ioneses, their saleiof the

property to MARCC without disclosing the prior eviction attempts so that MARCC woulid then

bear the burden of evicting the Ioneses, and their issuance of a 1099-C While knowing that they

would then continue to seek to recover on the subrogated lien from Bank of America. Their‘intent

to cause emotional distress can be inferred from the misrepresentations in the court filings! When

obtaining the order to foreclose, their misrepresentations that they would not seek an orlder of

foreclosure while the Ioneses attempted to obtain a loan modification, their repeated atterrilpts t0

evict the Joneses knowing that the foreclosure order had been fraudulently obtained, their almost

immediate posting of the property for sale and the sale to MARCC without disclosing the' prior

eviction proceedings, and their issuance 0f a 1099-C knowing they intended t0 assert a

subrogation lien.

25. This conduct was extreme and outrageous. The conduct was so outrageaus in

character, and so extreme in degree, asvto go beyond all possible bounds of decency and to be

regarded as atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civiiized community.

26. Bank Defendants’ conduct proximately caused both Consuelo and Gabriella

severe emotional distress, for which they should be compensated. The Joneses presented direct

evidence 0f the nature, duration, and severity 0f their mental anguish, and established a

substantial disruption in their daily routine.
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27. The amount, paid now in cash, that would fairly and reasonably compensate

Consuelo for her emotional distress in the past, resulting from the occurrences in question, is

|

$350,000.

I

28. The amount, paid now in cash, that would fairly and reasonably complensate

Consuelo for her emotional distress in the past, resulting from the occurrences in question, is

|

$350,000.
'

29. Bank Defendants Were part of a conspiracy that damaged Plaintiffs.} Bank

Defendants had knowledge 0f, agreed to, and intended a common? objective or course of [action

that resulted in damages to Plaintiffs, and Bank Defendants performed an act 0r acts to fiurther

the conspiracy. Accordingly, Bank Defendants are jointly and severally liable for the dama'ges.
|

30. The Court finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that the harm to Plaintiff? arose

from gross negligence by the Bank Defendants. They committed acts which, When viewed
|

objectively from the standpoint of Bank Defendants, involved an extreme degree of risk,

considering the probability and magnitude 0f the potential harm to others and of Which: Bank

Defendants had actual, subjective awareness of the risk involved, but nevertheless prodeeded

with conscious indifference to the rights, safety, or welfare of others. Additionally, the iCourt

finds, by Clear and convincing evidence, that Bank Defendants’ actions were malicious,
iln

that

they had a specific intent to cause substantial injury or harm to Plaintiffs. Additionally, thelCourt
I

finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that Bank Defendants’ actions constituted fraud} other

than constructive fraud. Numerous fraudulent misrepresentations were proven at trial both

during the foreclosure proceedings, during the attempted modifications of the loan, during the

eviction process, and thereafter.

31. The Court determines that exemplary damages should be awarded as a penalty

and by way of punishment. The Court has considered the nature 0f the wrongs, the character 0f

the conduct involved, the degree of culpability of the Bank Defendants, the situation and

sensibilities 0f the parties concerned, and the extent to Which the conduct offends a public- sense

of justice. The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against Defendant
|

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company and awarded to Plaintiff Consuelo Jones is $625,000.00.

The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against Defendant chen Loan
|

Servicing LLC and awarded to Plaintiff Consuelo Jones is $625,000.00.
l

|

|
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32. The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against Defendant

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company and awarded to Plaintiff Gabriella Jones is $625,000.00.

Thé Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against Defendant chen Loan

Servicing LLC and awarded to Plaintiff Gabriella Jones is $625,000.00.

Election 0fRemedies

33. Plaintiffs elected to seek declaratory relief regarding the validity céf the

transactions at issue in this case, and for that Claim they are entitled to recover attorne)|7 fees.

Plaintiffs are recovering separately for intentional infliction of emotional distress based‘ Bank

Defendants’ post—contract conduct, as that provides the greatest recovery. Should these elections

be found erroneous 0n appeal, this Court finds that Plaintiffs would be entitled t0 relief om their

remaining claims. Should the election of rescission be rejected on review by appeal, thé case

should be remanded for a new election of damages.
I

Wrongful Foreclosure
l

34. Wrongful foreclosure can support two alternative remedies. Diversified, inc. v.

Gibraltar Sav. Ass’n, 762 S.W.2d 620, 623 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist] 1988, writ denjged). A

mortgagor can sue for its actual damages. Peterson v. Black, 980 S.W.2d 818, 823 (Tex. App.i- San

Antonio 1998, no pet). Or the mortgagor can sue to set aside the trustee's deed. Univ. Sav. Ass’n

v. Springwood Shopping Center, 644 S.W.2d 705, 706 (Tex. 1982).

35. There were numerous defects in the foreclosure process, as identified in the fact

findings above. The findings regarding Violations of the Texas Constitution render the fored osure

sale void and the subsequent foreclosure wrongful. Additionally, Bank Defendants fraudulently

obtained a faulty order of foreclosure by misrepresenting that Plaintiff Consuelo Jones had not

answered the foreclosure suit, failing to provide proper notice to Plaintiffs of the final hearing,

and misrepresenting Plaintiffs’ last known address. Bank Defendants then failed to provide the

proper notice of the foreclosure sale, failed to properly identify the time the sale would start,

failed to identify the correct trustee conducting the sale, and violated posting requirements for

the sale.

36. While the Court does not believe that Plaintiffs were required t0 demonstrate a

grossly inadequate sales price in order to rescind the foreclosure order, sale, and trustees deed,

they did present that proof. Contrary to Bank Defendants’ arguments, it is not true that 50% 0f

property value is the absolute benchmark for an adequate sales price. In fact, the Thirteenth Court
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i

of appeals has expressly rejected this argument and stated that each case must be decided on the

facts. Estate of Broughton v. Fin. Freedom Senior Funding Com, No. 13-14-00091—CV, 2016 WL
2955058, at *3 (Tex. App. — Corpus Christi—Edinburg May 19, 2016, judgm’t vacated w.r.m.) (mem.

op.).

i

37. Accordingly, the remedy of rescission is supported by the wrongful foreclosure

claim.

38. Plaintiffs are entitled to recover exemplary damages. Nolan v. Bettis, 577 S.W.2d

551, 555 (Tex. Civ. App. — Austin 1979, writ ref’d n.r.e.); Consolidated Tex. Fin. v. Shearer, 739 §.W.2d

477, 480 (Tex. App. — Fort Worth 1987, writ ref’d n.r.e.).

'

'

Fraud
i

39. Bank Defendants made numerous fraudulent statements of fact and prqmises

regarding their intent to proceed with foreclosure during the numerous attempts by the Janeses

to modify the loan. Bank Defendants knew that the loan did not comply with the iTexas

Constitution but represented that the loan was valid and enforceable. Defendants kneviv that

despite promises not to continue foreclosure proceedings during the loan modification prbcess,

they were doingjust that— they had no intention to stop proceeding towards foreclosure. prpnfise

of future performance made with an intent, at the time the promise was made, not to perfolrrn as

promised. Bank Defendants made material misrepresentations with knowledge of their falsity or

made recklessly Without any knowledge of the truth and as a positive assertion, an'd the

misrepresentations were made with the intention that they be acted on by Plaintiffs, and P1a}ntiffs

justifiably relied on the misrepresentations and suffered injuries.
I

40. Bank Defendants' conduct proximately caused both Consuelo and Gabiriella

severe emotional distress, for Which they should be compensated. The Ioneses presented (iiirect

evidence of the nature, duration, and severity of their mental anguish, and established a

substantial disruption in their daily routine.

41. The amount, paid now in cash, that would fairly and reasonably compel'nsate

Consuelo for her emou'onal distress in the past, resulting from the occurrences in questibn, is

$350,000.
i

42. The amount, paid now in cash, that would fairly and reasonably compellnsate

Consuelo for her emotional distress in the past, resulting from the occurrences in questiém, is

$350,000. '
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|

43. Bank Defendants were part 0f a conspiracy that damaged P1aintiffs.| Bank

Defendants had knowledge of, agreed to, and intended a common objective or course of-iaction

that resulted in damages to Plaintiffs, and Bank Defendants performed an act or acts to fhrther

the conspiracy. Accordingly, Bank Defendants are jointly and severally liable for the damaiges.

44. The Court finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that the harm to Plaintiffs: arose

from gross negligence by the Bank Defendants. They committed acts Which, when viewed

objectively from the standpoint of Bank Defendants, involved an extreme degree of risk,

considering the probability and magnitude of the potential harm to others and of Whichl Bank

Defendants had actual, subjective awareness of the risk involved, but nevertheless proceeded

With conscious indifference to the rights, safety, or welfare of others. Additionally, the Court

finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that Bank Defendants’ actions were malicious, in that

they had a specific intent to cause substantial injury or harm to Plaintiffs. Additionally, the ECourt

finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that Bank Defendants’ actions constituted fraud, ?other

than constructive fraud. Numerous fraudulent misrepresentations were proven at trial? both

during the foreclosure proceedings, during the attempted modifications of the loan, durifig the

eviction process, and thereafter.
!

45. The Court determines that exemplary damages should be awarded as a pe'nalty

and by way of punishment. The Court has considered the nature of the wrongs, the characlter of

the conduct involved, the degree of culpability of the Bank Defendants, the situation|_ and

sensibilities of the parties concerned, and the extent to Which the conduct offends a public Isense

of justice. The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against DeferiIdant

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company and awarded to Plaintiff Consuelo Jones is $625,060.00.

The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against Defendant chen Loan

Servicing LLC and awarded to Plaintiff Consuelo Jones is $625,000.00.
l

46. The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against Defefidant

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company and awarded to Plaintiff Gabriella Jones is $625,060.00.

The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against Defendant chen ILoan

Servicing LLC and awarded to Plaintiff Gabriella Jones is $625,000.00.
I

47. A fraud claim can also support the remedy of rescission, and the Court resciinds

all transactions between the parties. Residential Credit 5015., Inc. v. Padilla, No. 13-15-00504i-CV,

2018 WL 1959989, at *4 (Tex. App.—Corpus Christi—Edinburg Apr. 26, 2018, no pet.) (mem. lop.).
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i

.
l

Negllgence
I

48. The negligence of the Bank Defendants proximately caused the injurgies in

question. Bank defendants failed to use ordinary care, that is, they failed to do that Which a fiel'son

. . . . .
i

0f ordmary prudence would have done under the same or Slmflar c1rcumstances or domg that
|

I. .

which a person of ordinary prudence would not have done under the same or smular

circumstances.
i

49. The Bank Defendants’ negligence was a substantial factor in bringing fabout

Plaintiffs' injuries and Without which such injuries would not have occurred. A peréon of

ordinary prudence would have foreseen that the injuries, or some similar injury, might

reasonably result from their actions.
I

50. Bank Defendants’ conduct proximately caused both Consuelo and Gallariella

severe emotional distress, for Which they should be compensated. The Joneses presented ldirect

evidence of the nature, duration, and severity of their mental anguish, and established a

substantial disruption in their daily routine. i

51. The amount, paid now in cash, that would fairly and reasonably compénsate

Consuelo for her emotional distress in the past, resulting from the occurrences in questiion, is

$350,000.
I

52. The amount, paid now in cash, that would fairly and reasonably compepsate

Consuelo for her emotional distress in the past, resulting from the occurrences in questipn, is

$350,000.
l

53. Bank Defendants were part of a conspiracy that damaged Plaintiffs. Bank

Defendants had knowledge of, agreed to, and intended a common objective or course of alction

that resulted in damages to Plaintiffs, and Bank Defendants performed an act or acts to fuirther

the conspiracy. Accordingly, Bank Defendants are jointly and severally liable for the damages.

54. The Court finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that the harm to Plaintiffs érose

from gross negligence by the Bank Defendants. They committed acts Which, When vielwed

objectively from the standpoint of Bank Defendants, involved an extreme degree of ;risk,

considering the probability and magnitude of the potential harm to others and of Which !Bank

Defendants had actual, subjective awareness of the risk involved, but nevertheless proceEeded

with conscious indifference to the rights, safety, or welfare of others. Additionally, the C;ourt

finds, by Clear and convincing evidence, that Bank Defendants’ actions were malicious, inithat
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they had a specific intent to cause substantial injury or harm to Plaintiffs. Additionally, the |Court

finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that Bank Defendants’ actions constituted fraud,, other

than constructive fraud. Numerous fraudulent misrepresentations were proven at trial: both

during the foreclosure proceedings, during the attempted modifications of the loan, duriliig the

eviction process, and thereafter.

55. The Court determines that exemplary damages should be awarded as a p'gnalty

and by way of punishment. The Court has considered the nature of the wrongs, the characllter of

the conduct involved, the degree of culpability of the Bank Defendants, the situatiofi and

sensibilities 0f the parties concerned, and the extent to which the conduct offends a public isense

of justice. The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against Deferlldant

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company and awarded to Plaintiff Consuelo Jones is $625,090.00.

The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against Defendant chenLoan

Servicing LLC and awarded to Plaintiff Consuelo Jones is $625,000.00. !

56. The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against DeferiIdant

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company and awarded to Plaintiff Gabriella Jones is $625,0b0.00.

The Court finds that the sum of money that should be assessed against Defendant chen|Loan

Servicing LLC and awarded to Plaintiff Gabriella Jones is $625,000.00.
i

I

Exemplary damage caps
|

57. Bank Defendants are ”fiduciaries” as that term is defined by Section 32.45, Texas

Penal Code. The term ”fiduciary” includes trustees and attorneys in fact. Deutsche Blanks

capacity in this case is as a trustee. As servicing agents, chen and Homeward’s capacities in this

case are as attorneys in fact. As fiduciaries, Bank Defendants claimed a first lien againsit the

Homestead through a deed of trust. I

58. Bank Defendants’ foreclosure of the Homestead contrary to the terms of the Edeed

of trust and contrary to Texas law. Bank Defendants intentionally, knowingly, or reckljessly

misapplied property they held as a fiduciary or property of a financial institution in a mainner

that involves substantial risk of loss to the owner of the property or to a person for whose benefit

the property is held. Their conduct constitutes Misapplication of Fiduciary Property uinder

Section 32.45, Texas Penal Code, a felony. !

59. As a result, the limitation on the amount 0f punitive damages set forth in Seéfion
|

41.008, Texas Civil Practice & Remedies Code does not apply.
!
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rhill@rwhlega1.com

Tom Hanson
Daniel Koeneke
Attorneys for chen Loan Servicing, LLC et a1

thanson@mcglincheycom
daniel@edrattorneys.com

34

a -

JUDGE PRESIDING

Page 130



EXHIBIT: DBMORLOCK-MSJ



Case 4:21-cv-03202   Document 17   Filed on 07/24/23 in TXSD   Page 1 of 9



Case 4:21-cv-03202   Document 17   Filed on 07/24/23 in TXSD   Page 2 of 9



Case 4:21-cv-03202   Document 17   Filed on 07/24/23 in TXSD   Page 3 of 9



Case 4:21-cv-03202   Document 17   Filed on 07/24/23 in TXSD   Page 4 of 9



Case 4:21-cv-03202   Document 17   Filed on 07/24/23 in TXSD   Page 5 of 9



Case 4:21-cv-03202   Document 17   Filed on 07/24/23 in TXSD   Page 6 of 9



Case 4:21-cv-03202   Document 17   Filed on 07/24/23 in TXSD   Page 7 of 9



Case 4:21-cv-03202   Document 17   Filed on 07/24/23 in TXSD   Page 8 of 9



Case 4:21-cv-03202   Document 17   Filed on 07/24/23 in TXSD   Page 9 of 9


